#### **OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES**

## 1. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

The Council will have three two Overview and Scrutiny Committees ("the Committees"), which together will perform all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council. They will each consist of eleven members, who will be appointed by the full Council at its annual meeting. Their terms of reference and functions will be as set out in Part 2, Article 6 of the Constitution.

#### 2. MEMBERSHIP

All Councillors except Cabinet members may be members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. However, no Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly involved in making.

# 3. CO-OPTED MEMBERS (WITHOUT VOTING RIGHTS)

Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to appoint people as Co-opted Members (without voting rights) as considered appropriate to enable them to perform their overview and scrutiny functions. The duration of the appointment will be determined by the Committee. In addition, the Council may determine which groups or bodies should be represented on a particular Committee by Co-opted Members (without voting rights).

# 4. MEETINGS OF THE COMMITTEE

There will be six—eight ordinary meetings of the Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee in each year. The Community Leadership Overview and Scrutiny Committee will meet quarterly. In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time as and when appropriate. An Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting may be called by the Chairman of the relevant Committee, or by the Committee Services Manager, if considered necessary or appropriate.

# 5. QUORUM

The quorum for the Committee shall be as set out in Part 4 (Council Procedure Rules).

# 6. CHAIRMEN

The Chairmen of the Committees shall be appointed as set out in Part 4 (Council Procedure Rules).

The Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees will meet with the Committee Services Manager and appropriate Heads of Service or relevant officer to co-ordinate the business of the relevant Committees and determine which Committee will assume responsibility for any particular issue.

# 7. WORK PROGRAMME

Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee will submit a work programme for the year ahead and a review of the previous year's activities to the Annual Meeting of the full Council for approval. In addition, it will be responsible for co-ordinating and prioritising its work programme on an ongoing basis.

In preparing, co-ordinating and prioritising its programme, each Overview and Scrutiny Committee will take into account:-

- The General Role and Principles of undertaking its functions, as set out in Part 2 Article 6
- the planned work on the preparation of elements of the Budget and Policy Framework as set out in the Council's Business Plan;
- the need for statutory timetables to be met;
- the wishes of all members of the committee;
- · requests from the Cabinet to carry out reviews; and
- requests from Group Leaders in accordance with Rule 8.

#### 8. AGENDA ITEMS

Any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to give notice to the Committee Services Manager that they wish an item relevant to the terms of reference and the functions of the Committee to be included on the agenda for the next meeting of that Committee. Such notice must be given by delivering it, in writing (or by personal e-mail) to the Committee Services Manager no later than midday seven working days before the day of the meeting. On receipt of such a notice the Committee Services Manager will ensure that the item is included on the agenda.

Any such request by Members will be considered at the next available meeting here the Committee will decide if the item should form part of the work programme.

The Leader of any political group may request that an item be included on the Overview and Scrutiny work programme. The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider the request on the agenda and determine at its meeting, whether the item is appropriate for inclusion on the work programme.

The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee will respond, as soon as their work programme permits, to requests from the Council and if it considers appropriate, the Cabinet

to review particular areas of Council activity. Such referrals will be accompanied by Council/Cabinet's view on the matter under consideration to assist the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee in effective investigation of the matter. Where they do so, the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall report their findings and any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council. The Council and/or Cabinet shall consider the report at its following meeting.

#### 9. COUNCILLORS CALL FOR ACTION

The Councillors Call for Action (CCfA) is an additional means for Councillors to raise issues of local community concern, for consideration by the Council's overview and scrutiny function, on behalf of residents. A Councillor Call for Action should only be raised where other means of resolving the matter have been exhausted.

- (a) Any Member of the Council may raise a Councillor Call for Action, which should be sent to the Council's Committee Services Manager.
- (b) Once the Councillor Call for Action is received, the matter must be considered by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, whose terms of reference the matter falls within and they must endeavour to consider the matter within a reasonable timescale. Where the matter falls within the terms of reference of more than one Committee, the Chairmen of the Committees will determine the most appropriate Committee to deal with the matter, except where the matter relates to a crime and disorder issue where all such matters must be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee responsible for crime and disorder matters.
- (c) If a Councillor Call for Action is deemed not to be valid, a letter will be sent to the Member concerned informing them of the reasons for this. Where the issue has been deemed not to be valid because other methods of resolution have not been exhausted, the Call for Action may be re-submitted, if necessary, once the Councillor concerned has pursued the matter further.

## 10. PROCEDURE AT COMMITTEE MEETINGS

- (a) The Committees shall consider the following business:
  - (i) Minutes of the last meeting;
  - (ii) Declarations of Interest;
  - (iii) Questions raised on the Forward Plan in accordance with Rule 13;
  - (iv) Responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;
  - (v) Responses of the Cabinet to called-in decisions referred for reconsideration;

- (vi) Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a decision in relation to the call-in of a decision; and
- (vii) The business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.
- (b) Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee undertakes researched and evidence reviews on a specific topic, on a task and finish basis, conducts investigations (e.g. with a view to policy development), the relevant Committee may also ask people to attend to give evidence at the Task and Finish Group Committee meetings that are to be conducted in accordance with the following principles:
  - (i) the terms and reference of any Task and finish Group must be agreed by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to its commencement;
  - (ii) consideration being given to the Council's priorities and resources when making researched and evidenced **recommendations** and referral decisions as an outcome of the scrutiny;
  - (iii) that the investigation reviews be conducted fairly and all members of the Committee Task and Finish Group be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak;
  - (iv) that those assisting the Committee Task and Finish Group by giving evidence be treated with respect and courtesy; and
  - (v) that the investigation review by Task and Finish Group be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the investigation or analysis.
- (c) Following any investigation or Task and Finish review, the Committee shall prepare a report, for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and shall make its report and findings public.

## 11. POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT

- (a) The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees in relation to the development of the Council's Budget and Policy Framework is set out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules within this Constitution.
- (b) In relation to the development of the Council's approach to other matters not forming part of its Budget and Policy Framework, each Overview and Scrutiny Committee may make proposals or act as consultee to the Cabinet for developments in so far as they relate to matters within their terms of reference.
- (c) Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee where relevant to their terms of reference, may, as resources permit, hold enquiries and agree to form a specific Task and Finish Group to investigate the available options for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to assist them in this process. They may go on

site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission research and do all other things that they reasonably consider necessary to inform their deliberations. They may ask witnesses to attend to address them on any matter under consideration and may pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so.

#### 12. REPORTS FROM AN OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

- (a) Specific evidence based recommendations on proposals for development from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be submitted by way of a formal report for consideration by Cabinet. If the proposals would involve a change to the existing Budget and/or Policy Framework, the Cabinet will consider the matter and make a recommendation to Full Council. The report will be drafted by Officers and agreed by the relevant Chairman in respect of the proposals from the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
- (b) If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single final report to the Cabinet or Council, the report may refer to the contrary views of a Member, if the Member concerned specifically requests this.
- (c) The Cabinet shall consider the report from the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee at the next meeting of the Cabinet for which the agenda has not yet been published.
- (d) In addition to making recommendations on specific proposals for development, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees may make more general comments/suggestions regarding matters they have considered, which they would like the relevant Cabinet Member to consider and take appropriate action. In such instances, a copy of the relevant minute will be sent to the Cabinet Member.
- (e) Where specific evidence-based recommendations on proposals for development from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees relate to matters that are the responsibility of Partner Authorities and organisations, notice in writing by way of a formal report will be provided to the relevant Partner Authority or organisation requiring them to have regard to the recommendations. The Partner or organisation will be requested to respond to the relevant Committee within two calendar months setting out action, if any, that is to be taken in response to the recommendations.
- (f) On occasions, matters may be referred to Overview and Scrutiny from Council. On such occasions, the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee will respond to the request, be this via an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or a Task and Finish Review Group. Upon concluding the necessary work, the matter and any recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be referred to the Cabinet for consideration. The matter, along with the recommendations of the

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and any comments or recommendations of the Cabinet shall be referred back to Full Council for consideration.

# 13. SCRUTINY OF PROPOSED DECISIONS

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will, at their ordinary meetings, review the new and/or amended items relevant to their terms of reference contained in the latest Forward Plan. If they wish to enquire into any forthcoming decisions, such an enquiry might consist of questioning members of the Cabinet and Officers, and seeking the views of local stakeholders and/or other interested parties. The Cabinet will take into account any recommendations expressed by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees when determining the final decision and record their response within any report and/or decision.

Matters may only be raised on the Forward Plan at Committee meetings where the Member has notified the Committee Services Manager in writing (or by personal email) of the question they wish to ask, no later than Midday, seven working days before the day of the meeting.

#### 14. RIGHTS OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS TO DOCUMENTS

(a) In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees in fulfilling their functions have the right to documents, and as provided for in the Access to Information Procedure Rules (the Regulations).

The Regulations include the following rights of Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees (Upon Request):

- The Cabinet <u>must</u> make available any material relating to business in respect of past decisions (and within 10 days);
- Exempt information where this relates to an action or decision that the Member is scrutinising or to any review in a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee's work programme. (Such Members are <u>not</u> entitled to any exempt material which contains advice provided by a political adviser or assistant); and
- If Cabinet refuses, it must set out reasons for doing so, in writing.
- (b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the Cabinet and any Committee as appropriate.

# 15. MEMBERS AND OFFICERS GIVING ACCOUNT

- (a) It shall be for each Corporate Director to determine which Officers attend to provide advice to Overview and Scrutiny Committees, subject to each Committee being able to supplement this as thought necessary through (b), (c) and (d) below:
- (b) Any Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review decisions made or action taken in connection with the discharge of any Council functions. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the Overview and Scrutiny role, it may require any

Cabinet Member, or any Senior Officer to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit.

- (i) any particular decision or series of decisions (excluding decisions made by Planning, Licensing, Audit or Standards Committee); and/or
- (ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy.
- (c) Where any Cabinet Member or Senior Officer is required to attend a meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at least seven working days notice of the meeting at which they are required to attend shall be given. The notice will state the nature of the item on which they are required to attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be produced for the relevant Committee. Where the account to be given to the Committee will require production of a report, then the Member or Officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for the preparation of that document.
- (d) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Cabinet Member or Senior Officer is unable to attend on the required date, the Chairman of the relevant Committee, shall, in consultation with the Member or Officer, arrange a substitute or an alternative date for attendance.
- (e) Participation by any Cabinet Member(s) in the general debate of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be at the discretion of the relevant Chairman (this rule does not apply when the Committee is considering a call-in).

# 16. ATTENDANCE BY OTHERS

Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee may, in so far as it relates to matters within their terms of reference, invite people other than those referred to in paragraph 15 above to address them, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and Members and Officers in other parts of the public sector and may invite such people to attend. Attendance by those invited is entirely optional but encouraged in the spirit of partnership working and community engagement.

## 17. CALL-IN

When a decision is made by the Cabinet, or an individual member of the Cabinet, the decision is published, normally within five working days of being made. The Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be sent copies of the records of all such decisions within the same timescale, by the person responsible for publishing the decision. Decisions will also be sent to all Members.

That notice will include the date on which it is published and will specify that the decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, on the expiry of five working days after the publication of the decision, unless the decision is called-in.

- (a) The rules applying to call-in are:
  - (i) All executive decisions taken at Cabinet meetings, or by individual Cabinet Members or by Officers, may be called-in, subject to the exceptions outlined in Procedure Rule 18;
  - (ii) Prior to holding a call-in, all Members of the Council are expected to attempt to resolve the matter through informal mediation, together with the relevant Cabinet Member and/or the Leader of the Council, if appropriate to do so;
  - (iii) The Committee Services Manager, will process call-in notices received from:
    - a. The Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee; or
    - b. Three Non-Cabinet Members of the Council.

All valid call-in notices will be referred to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee for determination and the decision-maker will be notified of the call-in.

- (iv) A notice of call-in must be made on the appropriate prescribed form or email (so long as the email addresses the relevant information required) and must be received within five working days of the date of publication of the decision. Use of the prescribed form is encouraged, and should be completed in full, with reference to the criteria for submitting call-in requests and stating the reasons why the issue needs to be scrutinised.
- (v) Only Cabinet decisions (including decisions by individual Cabinet Members) are eligible for call-in. Individual decisions taken by non-Cabinet and Committees (such as Planning and Licensing) cannot be the subject of call-in; and
- (vi) Any decision can only be called-in once.
- (b) Those seeking to call-in a decision shall be required to state their reasons, in accordance with the criteria set, in the call-in notice form based on one or more of the following seven assessment criteria. These seven criteria are as follows:
  - (i) The decision-maker has failed to consult relevant people, or bodies, in contravention of defined Council policies or procedures.
  - (ii) The decision is contrary to the Council's Budget or Policy Framework.

- (iii) The decision is not consistent with Council policy.
- (iv) The decision-maker did not take into account relevant considerations or other material factors and therefore, the decision is unreasonable.
- (v) The decision is contrary to a previously agreed decision made in Full Council, which has not been superseded by a subsequent decision.
- (vi) The decision is inconsistent with a previous Overview and Scrutiny recommendation that has been accepted by Cabinet or Council and that recommendation has not been superseded by a subsequent decision.
- (vii) The decision was not taken in accordance with the principles set out in Article 13 (Decision-Making) of the Constitution.

Those seeking to call-in a decision shall state when providing their reasons in the call-in notice, confirmation whether they wish to enter into formal mediation with the relevant Cabinet Member and if so, what element of the decision and/or further information would they wish to discuss as part of the mediation. Once those seeking the call-in have provided this information, the relevant Cabinet Member must respond and confirm whether they wish to engage with the mediation process. Upon confirmation that the parties wish to mediate, Committee Services will set up an informal mediation, at which an Officer can attend to assist with providing or clarifying any information and to record the outcome of the mediation discussion.

- (c) The submission of a call-in notice shall have the effect of suspending the implementation of the decision pending consideration of the matter by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, who must meet to consider the matter within 15 working days from the date following receipt of the call-in notice.
  - If the relevant Committee does not meet within this period, the decision shall take effect on the expiry of the 15 working day period. The Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee is under an obligation to ensure that the meeting is held within 15 days.
- (d) At the meeting to consider the call-in notice, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall limit its consideration to the reasons stated in the call-in notice.
  - (i) The layout of the meeting will provide separate tables for both the callers-in and the relevant Cabinet Member to sit at for the item of the call-in.
  - (ii) <u>Stage One of the meeting</u> the Councillor(s) requesting the call-in shall attend and explain their objections to the decision and the reasons for the call-in against the stated criteria.

- (iii) <u>Stage Two</u> the decision-maker (relevant Cabinet Member) shall establish the reasons behind the decision and can determine whether it should be referred back to the decision-maker for consideration.
- (iv) Stage Three Questions can be asked by:
  - a. the callers-in:
  - b. The relevant Cabinet Member; and
  - c. The Committee

All questions will be at the discretion of the Chairman, taking account of relevance to the subject matter.

- (e) It should be noted that, although a decision may be deemed to meet the criteria for call-in, this does not automatically mean the matter should be referred back to the decision-maker. There may be compelling reasons for the decision being made and all evidence should be heard before determining what action should be taken.
- (f) Both the callers-in and the decision-maker are permitted to stay at the meeting whilst the Committee debates and decides what action to take at the discretion of the relevant Chairman.
- (g) Participation in the general debate will not be permitted but the callers-in and relevant Cabinet Member may answer questions or points of clarification arising through the debate, at the discretion of the relevant Chairman.
- (h) On considering the matter, the Committee will decide whether or not to ask the decision-maker to reconsider its decision.
- (i) If, having had regard to the advice of the Monitoring Officer, which will be summarised within the Report, the Committee considers the executive decision is contrary to the Budget or Policy Framework; the Committee may refer the matter to the next practicable meeting of the Council, subject to the provisions of Council Procedure Rules.
- (j) If the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to ask the decision-maker to reconsider their decision, the decision-maker shall be required to do so within 15 working days following the meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
- (k) If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides that it does not wish to refer the matter back to the decision-maker or to Council, the decision shall be confirmed and take effect immediately following the meeting of the Committee.
- (I) If the matter is referred to Council, who do not object to the decision, the subject of call-in, no further action is necessary and the decision will be effective on the date of the Council meeting. If Council does object, it only has authority to make decisions where it is considered contrary to the Budget and Policy Framework. The Council

must refer any decision relating to Cabinet Functions, to which it objects, back to the decision-maker, together with the Council's views on the decision. The decision-maker shall, within a further 15 working days, choose whether to amend the decision or not before reaching a final decision and implementing it.

## (m) Decisions referred back to the Decision Maker

The comments and views provided by Council or the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee when referring a decision back to reconsideration shall be final and no further representations shall be made to the decision-maker.

The decision-maker will send a report to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, once a decision has been reconsidered, and that report should include the reason why the decision-maker has either reconfirmed the original decision or why the decision has changed.

#### 18. EXCEPTIONS TO CALL-IN

The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply in respect of Cabinet decisions regarding the following:

# (i) <u>Urgent Decisions</u>

A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would seriously prejudice the Council's or the public interests. The record of the decision, and notice by which it is made public, shall state whether in the opinion of the decision-making person, or body, the decision is an urgent one and why, and therefore not subject to call-in.

The Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee must agree that the proposed decision is reasonable in all its circumstances and that it should be treated as a matter of urgency. In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman's consent shall be required. In the absence of both, the Head of Paid Service or his/her nominee's consent shall be required.

Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the Leader to the next practicable ordinary meeting of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency.

# (ii) Other Exceptions

- (a) "Provisional" or "in principle" decisions where the issue is to be referred to an Overview and Scrutiny Committee for comment.
- (b) Recommendations from Cabinet to Council.
- (c) Decisions by the Cabinet where the issue has been referred to them by the Council or an Overview and Scrutiny Committee for their view or comment shall not be subject to call-in.

- (d) Where Full Council has delegated to the Cabinet the ability to approve additional information in respect of the Corporate Plan to ensure that statutory publishing deadlines are met, such decisions shall be construed as urgent for the purposes of Rule 18(i) above. In such circumstances the Chairman of the relevant Committee, or other Chairman or Vice-Chairman so authorised to act in his absence, will only be required to agree that the proposed decision is reasonable in all the circumstances.
- (iii) The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be monitored in accordance with Part 2, Article 15 of this Constitution and a report submitted to Council with proposals for review if necessary.